
Health and Wellbeing Board
Agenda

BRISTOL CCG

Date:      Wednesday, 25 September 2019
Time:      2.00 pm
Venue:   Room 1P05, 1st Floor - City Hall, College 
Green, Bristol, BS1 5TR

Distribution:
Councillors: Dr A Bolam, Helen Holland, Asher Craig, Gray, Julia Ross, Justine Rawlings, Elaine Flint, 
Keith Sinclair, Dr J Jensen, Robert Woolley, A Young, Jo Makinson, E Dietrich and Terry Dafter

Copies to: Nancy Rollason (Service Manager Legal), Sarah Sharland (Legal Officer), Sally Hogg and 
Oliver Harrison (Democratic Services Officer)

Issued by: Oliver Harrison, Democratic Services
City Hall College Green Bristol BS1 5TR
Tel: 0117 35 26162
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk
Date: Tuesday, 17 September 2019

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

Agenda
1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information 
Please note: if the alarm sounds during the meeting, everyone should please exit 
the building via the way they came in, via the main entrance lobby area, and then 
the front ramp.  Please then assemble on the paved area between the side 
entrance of the cathedral and the roundabout at the Deanery Road end of the 
building.

If the front entrance cannot be used, alternative exits are available via staircases 
2 and 3 to the left and right of the Council Chamber.  These exit to the rear of the 
building.  The lifts are not to be used.  Then please make your way to the 
assembly point at the front of the building.  Please do not return to the building 
until instructed to do so by the fire warden(s).

2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

3. Declarations of Interest 
To note any declarations of interest from the Councillors.  They are asked to 
indicate the relevant agenda item, the nature of the interest and in particular 
whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which is not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion.

4. Public Forum 
Up to 10 minutes is allowed for this item

Any member of the public or Councillor may participate in Public Forum. Public 
Forum items should be emailed to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk and 
please note that the following deadlines will apply in relation to this meeting:-

Questions on agenda items - Written questions must be received 3 clear working 
days prior to the meeting.  For this meeting, this means that your question(s) 
must be received in this office at the latest by 5 pm on Thursday 19 September 
2019

Petitions and Statements on agenda items - Petitions and statements must be 
received on the working day prior to the meeting.  For this meeting this means 
that your submission must be received in this office at the latest by 12.00 noon 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


Health and Wellbeing Board – Agenda

on Tuesday 24 September 2019

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting 2.20pm
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record. (Pages 4 - 9)

6. Alive Bristol and the Healthy Weight Declarations 2.25pm

(Pages 10 - 13)

7. Paris Declaration on Fast Track Cities (HIV prevention) 2.40pm

(Pages 14 - 15)

8. Living Wage City 2.55pm

(Pages 16 - 17)

9. Air quality and climate change 3.10pm

(Pages 18 - 43)

10. Mental Health Strategy 3.25pm

(Pages 44 - 61)

11. Feedback from Healthier Together (STP) Programme Board 3.40pm
Verbal update from Cllr Asher Craig

12. Forward Plan 3.50pm
To note the forward plan. (Page 62)

13. Any Other Business 3.55pm
SEND OFSTED inspection



Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board

17 July 2019 at 2.30 pm

Board Members Present: Alison Bolam, Helen Holland, Asher Craig, Gray, Justine Rawlings, Elaine Flint, 
Morgan Daly, Jacqui Jensen and Terry Dafter

Officers in Attendance:- Oliver Harrison, Sally Hogg, Leonie Roberts, Victoria Bleazard, Alan Stubbersfield

1. Welcome, Introductions and Safety Information

2. Apologies for Absence and Substitutions

Apologies were received from:
Keith Sinclair
Robert Woolley
Julia Clarke > Tony Page substitutes 
Eva Dietrich > Stephen Parker substitutes

3. Declarations of Interest

None

4. Public Forum

The following items of Public Forum were received:

1. Statement on Air Quality and Asthma
2. Statement on air pollution during major events
3. Statement on St Paul’s Adventure playground

These statements were noted by the board.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

The board discussed the appropriateness of the statements received for the Health and Well Being Board. 
For example, HWB does not have jurisdiction over licencing for major events or funding for playgrounds. 
Statements to be reviewed and s redirected to the relevant forums for action. 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting

The minutes of the 27 March 2019 Health and Well Being Board were agreed as a correct record.

The action for “CG to create a Bristol Health Scrutiny Forum” should read “CG observed that it would be 
helpful to have a Bristol Health Scrutiny function; this matter to be raised with the Scrutiny Team”. This 
action has been completed. 

6. Approval of SEND Strategy

Alan Stubbersfield, BCC Director of Education introduced the SEND Strategy paper. 
 BCC are expecting an Ofsted inspection on SEND imminently. In anticipation of this inspection BCC 

is drawing together self-evaluation data. The proposal is that HWB provide governance for SEND, 
as recommended in the SEND Code of Practice. The themes in the Send Strategy are very 
important.  Early Identification is not based on age checkpoints, it is more flexible to individual 
needs. Participation is about increasing voice of service users so we can build around them. 

 The strategy recognises the need for a robust quality assurance needed, especially in areas that 
have proven stubbornly difficult to deal with. Ofsted inspection framework indicates a strong 
preference for joint commissioning and co-production. 

 The Board noted that there has been a large amount of negative feedback from parents on SEND 
issues. In this region there is increased level of satisfaction but no decrease in dissatisfaction. 
There is level of dissatisfaction, for both national and local reasons. A lack of funding for reforms 
mean they did not deliver properly. Lobbying to central government has secured a £350m fund 
but this is unlikely to be sufficient. Locally, delivery of assessments has been problematic, due to 
increased demand and legal issues. Decisions have been made to increase capacity for these 
assessments.

 Members raised concerns about the strategy being heavily focused on dealing with current issues. 
While this is important, horizon scanning for future issues is also essential, e.g. the need to 
increase provision for autistic children was correctly identified 5/10 years ago.   

 There have been recent cabinet reports to on SEND capital planning and there are 3 new schools 
are in the pipeline which will require SEND provision. Further Education colleges have been 
successful with SEND issues.  

 There was a discussion about the importance of integrating SEND children into their communities. 
SEND integration in an urban environment presents particular issues. 

Justine Rawlings on behalf of the CCG requested a minor amendment to the front page of the 
strategy.

Page 5



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

It was resolved that Health and Wellbeing Board approve the recommendations as set out in the 
report:

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board noted the contents of the Bristol Local Area SEND Self-Evaluation and 
endorse its publication.
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board adopted the Bristol Strategy for Children and Young People (0-25) with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 2019-2021, and endorse and promote its publication (subject 
to minor amendment requested by CCG).
3. The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed the governance arrangements for the oversight of outcomes 
for special educational needs and disabilities, as outlined in the SEND Strategy.

7. Health and Wellbeing Board Oversight Update

A verbal update was given on the role and purpose of the strategic leadership for Health and Wellbeing 
Board including decision making, oversight and statutory duties. 

This included such items as publication of the JSNA, overseeing integration, better care fund, SEND 
strategy and receiving and responding to health protection issues. 

8. Health and Wellbeing Board Plan on a Page

Christina Gray led a discussion on the Health and Well Being Board “Plan on a Page”. This version follows 
feedback gathered at the recent HWB development session. This plan on a page will be supported by a 
strategy document that will be produced at a later date.   

 The overarching aims are “By 2050 everyone in Bristol will have the opportunity to live a life in 
which they are mentally and physically healthy”, “Mental health will be as important as physical 
health in Bristol”, “Health inequalities will be reduced” and “Children will grow up free of adverse 
childhood experiences having had the best start in life and support throughout their life.”

 The 5 blocks at the top of the page describe the statutory duties of the board. It is important that 
these are always in sight and maintained.

 HWB also needs to plan to deliver this year’s ambitions, so there are 6 pillars that represent areas 
of focus for this year. The first is direct health-related ambitions from the One City Plan. The 
second is Health in Wider Determinants, representing ambitions in the One City Plan where HWB 
can add real value. Middle two pillars are for Healthier Together, delivering prevention and 
integrated care. Final two are about leadership and oversight.

 Although these have been agreed at the development session, they are a work in progress and all 
members can input. This is a HWB champion in each block to make sure we have leadership in 
each area. Champions do not necessarily need to be subject matter experts in their area.

 There is also a draft performance framework dashboard. RAG rated, with red areas signifying no 
progress with significant impact. Alongside this is a work stream reporting framework to collect, 

Page 6



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

monitor and report back data. Each work stream has a lead to deliver, those people will be asked 
to complete. Public health will support the performance function.

It was resolved that Health and Wellbeing Board approve the recommendations as set out in the 
report:

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Plan on a Page and adopt this as the framework for 
the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

2. The Health and Wellbeing Board endorsed the named Board member champions for the pillars of 
the Plan on a Page. 

3. The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Health and Wellbeing Board Delivery plan against 
which to measure progress.

9. Thrive Bristol

A presentation on THRIVE was given by Leonie Roberts and Victoria Bleazard.

 THRIVE would like HWB members to disseminate messages and actions to their contacts in 
hospitals, schools, etc. to ensure that health organisations are exemplary in terms of mental 
health. 

 BCC has been making good progress despite limited resources, but needs to make THRIVE city 
wide. We are seeing culture change being driven by employers, which is very positive. Plan is to 
have strong online presence for THRIVE to show what is available in Bristol, such as accessing first 
aid mental health training. 

 Laurence Pitt (BCC) is doing mental health work in schools. It would help to bring these work 
streams together. Schools are really embracing this.

 Wellspring community mental health is reaching out into different groups to challenge stigma on 
mental health. Good timing for THRIVE campaign. In more recent times the drive is coming from 
the community, e.g. Somali, Bengali, working to create a health network for support.

 Ward Councillors are very well placed to promote THRIVE and should be champions for their own 
areas.

 Briefing pharmacy workers may be helpful due to the public being directed to pharmacies to 
relieve pressure on GPs.  

 Very important for THRIVE to get a web portal up and running so members can signpost to it
 Involve Andrea Dell so she can leverage her contacts in the One City Plan

ACTION JR to find out publication timeline for the mental health strategy to see if THRIVE can be 
integrated. 

ACTION LR/VB to write draft letters for members to amend and disseminate to their organisations and 
contacts. 

10.One City Plan Update

Page 7



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

Alison Bolam and Sally Hogg gave a verbal update on the One City Plan.
 There was a recent One City gathering attended by approximately 200 people. This involved the 

six thematic boards (HWB is one of these). Delegates got allocated to various boards to learn what 
each of them did. All board chairs have identified sustainability as an issue across all sectors. Some 
boards have objectives that may not initially seem like a good fit but can add value. For example 
HWB have taken ambition of a 30% carbon neutral fleet. There was a very diverse group of people 
in the audience. E.g. Owner of a tyre business explained how tyre design affects air pollution. 

 There was also a One City Event at Kingsweston House. This was about making the OCP accessible 
to communities, letting them know what they can do and  breaking it down to show how 
individuals and small groups can make a difference. E.g. taking personal action that can assist with 
clean air or sustainable food objectives. Different elements will speak to different people. Design 
your own solutions. This is what the OCP is trying to do, how do you think could be achieved? 

ACTION SH to circulate notes of recent One City Plan meetings to HWB members

11.Joint Working Update

The Board received a verbal update on Joint Working across the region from Helen Holland and Asher 
Craig

 BNSSG Joint Health and Wellbeing Board Workshop: The second of these workshops was held 
recently. It looked at shared priorities and differences across the region and long term planning in 
NHS. The challenge is to balance all the different health meetings and avoid duplications. However 
there was heartening feedback from Julia Ross that suggestions from HWB were being adopted. 

 SW Health and Wellbeing Board Network Annual Conference: Was some interesting topics, 
including the conflicting jargon and terms in health organisations that inhibit joint working. There 
is an LGA offer for HWB continuous improvement. 

 The Wigan deal is to improve outcomes with community led interventions. This is about co-
production, moving away from grants. Wigan is 7 years in to this programme. It is from ground up 
and community led. Penny Germon in BCC is doing community development piece at the moment, 
HWB should support her in that. We need to examine the practicalities of co-working now, e.g. 
how to integrate GPs.  Communities need a framework that they can apply to any department or 
organisation. Looking to eliminate the ‘not us’ and turn this into ‘how can we help’. 

ACTION TD and JR to update HWB on how PCNs work in communities 

12.Statutory Duties

The board received a verbal update on the recent Healthier Together Programme Board meeting. This is a 
new governance board that HWB chairs sit on. They will be held quarterly. At this meeting, the agenda 
was agreement of the Terms of Reference, Financial Recovery and a 5 year engagement strategy. It is 
important for HWB to understand where policy is being developed and decisions made so it can feed in.

Page 8



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk

ACTION AC to check whether the minutes for the Healthier Together Programme Board can be 
distributed to Health and Well Being Board members

13.Forward Plan

The HWB forward plan was discussed. 
August dev session: Data and intelligence to inform decisions, wider determinants, One City Plan and fuel 
poverty
Sep formal session: Alive Bristol ,Better Care Fund 
October: Dev Session:  Focus on housing for vulnerable people. It is important that the Cabinet Member 
and Director for Housing are able to attend.

AC asked to provide an update on HIV/AIDS at the August session. 

ACTION SUMMARY
 Justine Rawlings discuss performance frameworks with…?
 JR to find out publication timeline for the mental health strategy to see if THRIVE can be 

integrated. 
 LR/VB to write draft letters for members to amend and disseminate to their organisations and 

contacts. 
 SH to circulate notes of recent One City Plan meetings to HWB members
 TD and JR to update HWB on how PCNs work in communities 
 AC to check whether the minutes for the Healthier Together Programme Board can be distributed 

to Health and Well Being Board members
 TD and JR to update HWB on how PCNs work in communities 

Meeting ended at 5.00 pm

CHAIR  __________________

Page 9



Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Alive Bristol and the Healthy Weight 
Declaration

Author (including organisation): Mark Allen, Public Health, Bristol City 
Council

Date of meeting: 25.09.19
For: Discussion and oversight

1. Purpose of this Paper

1. To gain support for adoption of the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight 
and NHS Partner Pledges by February 2020

2. To provide information on the Alive Bristol healthy weight programme
3. To discuss how the Board can help drive this agenda

2. Executive Summary 

1. A third of children and over half of adults in Bristol are overweight or obese, and 
there are wide inequalities between the most and least deprived areas of the city

2. There are huge financial costs to social care, the NHS and the wider economy
3. Alive Bristol is our ‘whole city’ approach to healthy weight and will require 

collective action across the local authority, NHS, education settings, food 
businesses, leisure & sport providers, workplaces and communities

4. Priorities include working with food businesses and public sector food 
procurement; influencing the built and natural environments; commissioning high 
quality leisure facilities and physical activity programmes; developing whole 
settings approaches for schools, early years, health and care settings; 
partnership with Feeding Bristol

5. The Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight gains commitment to 
promoting healthy weight and implementing policies which influence the whole 
city

6. We are also seeking Partner Pledges from local NHS organisations, building on 
existing partnerships and preventative policies

3. Recommendations 

1. Support adoption of the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight and 
Partner Pledges by February 2020

2. Support this work in your organisations and identify Champions to work with us

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



4. Evidence Base
Public Health England – what good healthy weight looks like
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

1. A third of children and over half of adults in Bristol are overweight or obese
2. There are wide inequalities, for example adults in the 10% most deprived areas 

of the city are 2.5 times more likely to be obese than the 10% least deprived
3. Obesity increases the risk of heart disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes, some 

cancers and depression
4. There are huge financial costs to social care, the NHS and the wider economy
5. Research indicates that structural and environmental changes can have the 

greatest impact on reducing inequalities

5. City Benefits

1. Reduced levels of overweight and obesity across the city
2. Reduced food poverty
3. Reduced inequalities in health e.g. between the most and least deprived areas of 

the city
4. Reduced impact on health and social care
5. Reduced impact on the wider economy from reduced productivity and people 

unable to work
6. Improved sustainability in the food system
7. Increased active travel

6. Appendices

The commitments of the Healthy Weight Declaration

1. Engage with the local food and drink sector (retailers, manufacturers, caterers, out 
of home settings) where appropriate to consider responsible retailing (such as not 
selling energy drinks to under 18s), offering and promoting healthier food and drink 
options, and reformulating and reducing the portion sizes of high fat, sugar and salt 
(HFSS) products;
2. Consider how commercial partnerships with the food and drink industry may 
impact on the messages communicated around healthy weight to our local 
communities. Funding may be offered to support research, discretionary services 
(such as sport and recreation and tourism events) and town centre promotions;
3. Review provision in all our public buildings, facilities and ‘via’ providers to make 
healthy foods and drinks more available, convenient and affordable and limit access 
to high-calorie, low nutrient foods and drinks (this should be applied to public 
institutions such as schools, hospitals, care homes and leisure facilities where 
possible);

Page 11

https://www.adph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/What-Good-Healthy-Weight-Looks-Like.pdf
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34748/Adult+Healthy+Weight+JSNA+Chapter+%28April+2018%29/71ac47c6-92e2-79b0-b6a3-81d147aad0ab
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/34748/Adult+Healthy+Weight+JSNA+Chapter+%28April+2018%29/71ac47c6-92e2-79b0-b6a3-81d147aad0ab


4. Increase public access to fresh drinking water on local authority controlled sites;
5. Consider supplementary guidance for hot food takeaways, specifically in areas 
around schools, parks and where access to healthier alternatives is limited;
6. Advocate plans with our partners including the NHS and all agencies represented 
on the Health and Wellbeing Board, Healthy Cities, academic institutions and local 
communities to address the causes and impacts of obesity;
7. Protect our children from inappropriate marketing by the food and drink industry 
such as advertising and marketing in close proximity to schools; ‘giveaways’ and 
promotions within schools; at events on local authority controlled sites;
8. Support action at national level to help Local Authorities reduce obesity 
prevalence and health inequalities in our communities;
9. Ensure food and drinks provided at public events include healthy provisions, 
supporting food retailers to deliver this offer;
10. Support the health and well-being of local authority staff and increase knowledge 
and understanding of unhealthy weight to create a culture and ethos that normalises 
healthy weight;
11. Invest in the health literacy of local citizens to make informed healthier choices;
12. Ensure clear and comprehensive healthy eating messages are consistent with 
government guidelines;
13. Consider how strategies, plans and infrastructures for regeneration and town 
planning positively impact on physical activity;
14. Monitor the progress of our plan against our commitments and publish the 
results.

Partner Pledge commitments

1. Drive commitment across the organisation from leadership level downwards to 
embed a preventative approach to unhealthy weight, addressing behavioural, 
environmental and cultural risk factors

2. Support the health and wellbeing of our staff and increase knowledge and 
understanding of risks associated with overweight and obesity, and to create a 
culture and ethos that promotes healthy weight, eating well and being active

3. Commit to developing infrastructures, schemes and environments conducive to 
physical activity, including active travel and active design

4. Support action at national level to work in partnership with Local Authorities to 
promote healthy weight and to reduce health inequalities in our communities

5. Make healthier choices available, convenient and affordable and limit access to 
high calorie, low-nutrient foods and drinks on-site, including catering, vending and 
meeting/event provision

6. Promote and provide access to free drinking water 

Page 12



7. Consider how commercial partnerships with the food and drink industry may 
impact on the messages communicated around healthy weight to our local 
communities

8. Monitor the progress of the plan against commitments and publish the results

Alive Bristol governance structure

Page 13



Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Fast Track Cities Initiative 
Author (including organisation): Jo Copping, Bristol City Council
Date of meeting: 25th September 2019
For: Decision

1. Purpose of this Paper
Bristol has a high rate of HIV and a high percentage of individuals presenting at a late stage of 
infection. The Fast-Track Cities Initiative (FTCI) aims to strengthen existing HIV programmes and 
focus resources to accelerate locally coordinated, city-wide responses to end AIDS as a public health 
threat by 2030. In order for a city to become a Fast Track City, the Mayor is required to sign the Fast 
Track Cities Paris Declaration. There is already an aspiration in the Bristol One City Plan for 2030 that 
HIV care and prevention is improved in line with the global Fast Track City Initiative.  

We are asking the Health & Wellbeing Board to endorse the decision for Bristol to sign up to be a 
Fast Track City to drive forward work to address HIV prevention, care and stigma in our city.

2. Executive Summary 
In order for a city to become a Fast Track City, the mayor is required to sign the Paris Declaration, 
which pledges to attain the following targets by 2030: 

 90% of people living with HIV knowing their HIV status
 90% of people who know their HIV-positive status on HIV treatment
 90% of people on HIV treatment with suppressed viral loads 
 To reduce stigma and discrimination for people living with HIV  

The UK government recently set the goal of eradicating HIV transmission in England by 2030 and 
becoming one of the first countries to reach the United Nations zero infections target by 2030. There 
is already an aspiration in the Bristol One City Plan that HIV care and prevention is improved in line 
with the global Fast Track City Initiative.  Signing up to become a Fast Track City will help us to 
achieve these ambitious national targets at a local level.

3. Recommendations 
We request that the Health & Wellbeing Board consider the following recommendations:

 That Health & Wellbeing Board Members are made aware of the Fast Track City Initiative 
and endorse Bristol’s intention to become a Fast Track City. 

 That Health & Wellbeing Board Members are made aware of the plan to consult around the 
FTCI action plan on 22nd October. 

 That Health & Wellbeing Board Members promote and disseminate Fast Track City Initiative 
information to their respective organisations throughout the life of the project. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 7



 For the Health & Wellbeing Board to acknowledge that the Fast Track Cities Initiative is part 
of the One City Plan and therefore comes under the oversight of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board. 

4. Evidence Base
In 2017 there were 47 new HIV diagnoses in individuals aged 15 years and above in Bristol. The 
diagnosed HIV prevalence was 2.6 per 1,000 population aged 15-59 years. This is considered to 
be an area of high HIV prevalence (above 2.0 per 1,000) according to NICE Guidelines. 

Furthermore between 2015 and 2017, 49% of HIV diagnoses were made at a late stage of 
infection compared to 41.1% in England. Individuals diagnosed at a late stage of infection have 
poorer treatment health outcomes and also increases the risk of onward HIV transmission in 
the population.  

IAPAC (International Association of Providers of AIDS Care) are one of the Fast Track Cities Initiative 
global partners.  They have produced guidelines for optimising HIV care pathways to improve 
outcomes at a local level. Signing up to this initiative will enable Bristol to draw upon these evidence 
based resources and to consult with other Fast Track Cities across the world to improve our 
response to HIV locally.  This will also enable Bristol to review our current HIV prevention and 
treatment work, and ensure that all our stakeholders are aligned and working together to achieve 
our agreed Fast Track City HIV targets.

Bristol City Council’s Public Health Team has recently completed a HIV Needs Assessment that has 
informed recommendations in the draft Fast Track City Action Plan that will be consulted on over the 
next two months prior to the Mayor signing. 

5. City Benefits
Signing up to be a Fast Track City will benefit Bristol by tackling health inequalities through the 
targeting of specific populations that are at a higher risk of acquiring HIV and AIDS among groups. 

Some demographic groups are disproportionately affected by HIV. Black African communities 
collectively contain the largest number of people with undiagnosed HIV infection (13,000) in the UK 
(PHE, 2014d), and this is mirrored in Bristol. Men who have sex with men (MSM) continue to be the 
group most affected by HIV infection (Public Health England, 2014). In 2013, an estimated 43,500 
MSM were living with HIV in the UK; this is equivalent to 59 per 1,000 MSM aged 15-59 years.

Signing up to be a Fast Track City will enable Bristol to bring key partners together to deliver a 
collaborative approach   to tackling these health inequalities. This will be done through the targeting 
of these demographic groups (and others dependent on need) to reduce stigma, optimise HIV 
treatment & support and improve the health of the Bristol population.

By diagnosing and treating earlier, there will be significant cost savings to health and social care 
services.

6. Financial and Legal Implications
None

7. Appendices
None

Page 15



Bristol Health & Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Bristol Living Wage City
Author (including organisation) Bristol City Council, Mayor’s Office
Date of Meeting: Wednesday 25th September 2019
For: Information and views

1. Purpose of this Paper

The One City Plan includes a commitment to Bristol becoming a Living Wage City, in 
response to a ‘Big Offer/Big Ask’ at a City Gathering. The City Office is seeking to 
gain accreditation, from the Living Wage City, as a means of promoting the Living 
Wage to employers in the city. The primary objective is to increase the number of 
workers in the city earning at least the Living Wage, an important element in decent 
jobs that will enhance the health and wellbeing of workers, their families and 
communities.

The Economy Board will be asked to take a lead on establishing Bristol as a Living 
Wage City, but is also significant cross-over with the work of the Health & Wellbeing 
Board. This paper sets out to gain recognition that there are more than economic 
benefits to be gained from increasing coverage of the Living Wage.

2. Executive Summary

In order for the city to become a Living Wage City, the City Office has

 Established an Action Group of local employers and ‘anchor organisations’
 Engaged with the Living Wage Foundation
 Compiled an evidence base of local labour market conditions
 Drafted an application form and Action Plan, with targets
 Recommended a governance scheme

The evidence base indicates that Bristol is relatively well positioned in regard to the 
proportion of its workforce earning below the Living Wage – at 15.2% this proportion 
is well below that for the UK (22%) and for other Core Cities. However, this still 
represents some 37,000 workers and contributes towards significant earnings 
inequalities.

Concentrations of low earnings exist in neighbourhoods also experiencing other 
forms of disadvantage, including health, skills and worklessness. Drawing 
conclusions of causal links is perhaps irresponsible, but there is a clear correlation. 

The Action Plan includes several measures to promote the Living Wage locally, 
together with an aim to establish close working with the Health & Wellbeing Board.

Page 16

Agenda Item 8



3. Recommendations

That the Health & Wellbeing Board consider the following recommendations

 That the Health & Wellbeing Board members are made aware of the Living 
Wage Foundation’s Living Wage Places initiative and endorse Bristol’s 
intention to become a Living Wage City

 That the Health & Wellbeing Board members are made aware of the 
benefits of workers earning above the Living Wage, beyond those of the 
clear economic gains 

 That the Health & Wellbeing Board members are also made aware of, 
promote and disseminate information regarding the benefits to employers 
of becoming an accredited Living Wage Employer

 For the Health & Wellbeing Board to acknowledge that the commitment to 
becoming a Living Wage City is part of the One City Plan and that the 
Board will contribute towards that commitment.

4. Evidence Base

 Population of Bristol – 459,300. Travel to Work Area (TTWA) – 862,000
 Working age population – 314,100. TTWA – 561,000
 Economically Active People In Employment in Bristol – 260,500 
 Employees in Bristol (residence-based) – 216,700
 Employees in Bristol (workplace based) – 274,000 

 Accredited Living Wage Employers HQ’d in Bristol – 57 (2019); target (2023) 125
 Number of workers employed by accredited employers – 19,031; target 41,250
 All Living Wage Employers in Bristol – 165; target 361
 Gross median earnings in Bristol £544pw; at UK median and above Core Cities
 2015 Indices of Deprivation show 75,045 Bristol residents income deprived
 Income deprivation concentrated in South, East-Central and North Bristol 

5. City Benefits

 Reduced in-work poverty
 Increased proportion of ‘decent jobs’ (earning above Living Wage, secure 

contract and suitable hours)

6. Financial and Legal Implications

 Reduced social costs of poverty and low wages
 Accreditation fee – Living Wage City fee of £166 per annum; Living Wage 

Employer accreditation dependent upon size of employer, starting at £60 per 
annum for ‘micro-employers’ (employing less than ten people).

Page 17



Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of Report Air Quality & Climate Change
Author (including organisation): Simon Wood, North Bristol NHS Trust
Date of meeting: 25th September
For: Discussion

1. Purpose of this Paper

This paper sets out the ambitions of North Bristol NHS Trust for its vehicle fleet.  In 
order to meet the objectives of the NHS Long Term Plan, support the commitments 
in its Sustainable Development Policy and contribute to air quality improvements in 
the city, the Trust needs to introduce changes to its current fleet.  The Trust is taking 
this opportunity to update the HWB board of its progress to date and its intentions for 
the future.

2. Executive Summary 

The bulk of North Bristol NHS Trust activity is based primarily on the Southmead site 
however satellite sites exist at Cribbs Causeway, Cossham, Knowle West and 
Frenchay.  We have a fleet of approximately 70 vehicles currently managed by 
different teams across different departments.  There is no minimum vehicle 
specification and many vehicles are idle for significant portions of the day.  We have 
a high number of business miles due to requirements to visit patients in the 
community but only 3 pool cars available for this resulting in staff using their own 
vehicles for business use in most cases.  The Trust has made a number of 
improvements in relation to sustainable travel including: the introduction of 6 electric 
vehicle charging points, a commitment to adopt the Clean Air Hospitals Framework, 
free personal travel plans for all staff and patients, 3 hybrid pool cars, a try-before-
you-buy loan bike scheme (fleet of 22 bicycles), pool bicycles, monthly free safety 
checks for staff bicycles, promotion of the 39 buses per hour (peak times) that serve 
the Southmead site, 50 car-share spaces and a Switch Off campaign.

3. Recommendations 
The Trust is commencing a scoping study to identify the current vehicles used, lease 
length, business needs and corresponding infrastructure improvements (e.g. charge 
points, dedicated fleet vehicle parking etc.) to be able to centralise its fleet.  This will 
allow the specification of more fuel efficient vehicles, ensure greater efficiency of 
use, reduce management time and enable improved monitoring.  The Trust 
commissioned an Energy Saving Trust fleet review in 2015 the results from which 
will feed into the study. The recently launched Clean Air Hospital Framework has 
also provided a list of actions for which an implementation plan will be created.

Page 18

Agenda Item 9



4. Evidence Base

The problems of air pollution in the city and the impacts on health are well 
recognised with the current proposals for a Clean Air Zone (CAZ) being the 
mechanism to address this.  As a healthcare facility treating the health conditions 
that result from poor activity levels and poor air quality, we are morally obliged to 
take action to encourage more sustainable and active travel and reduce the impacts 
from our own vehicles.  We also recognise that this is a region wide issue so have 
been working with NHS partners across the BNSSG area, through the Sustainability 
and Health Group, to develop a Climate Change Adaptation Plan. The actions which 
result from a region wide risk assessment will include identifying fleet improvements.

5. City Benefits

The Trust’s work will result in improved fuel efficiency and air quality together with a 
reduced contribution to climate change.  This in turn supports the Bristol One City 
Plan and the national Sustainable Development Strategy for the Health and Social 
Care System, whilst enabling the Trust to work towards achieving targets in the NHS 
Long Term Plan and the Climate Change Act.  More efficient vehicles will also 
reduce the financial impact to the Trust of staff travel into the proposed CAZ in the 
centre of Bristol.  

6. Financial and Legal Implications

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix 1.North Bristol NHS Trust’s Travel Plan 2019-2023

Page 19



Travel Plan
2019 - 2023

Page 20



Contents

Foreword 

1. Introduction 

     a. Travel Plan 2019-2023 

2. Achievements during 2013-2018 

     a. Headlines 

     b. Measure of Progress 

     c. 2013-2018 Initiatives 

     d. Acknowledgement and Achievements 

3. Drivers of the Plan 

     a. Joint Local Transport Plan 

     b. Climate Change 

     c. Sustainable Development Policy and Management Plan 

     d. NHS Long Term Plan 

     e. Sustainable Development Assessment Tool 

     f. Expected Trends 

     g.  Measures of Potential 

     h. Measuring Health Outcomes of Travel Choices 

4. Vision and Objectives 

     a. Introduction 

     b. Vision 

     c. Goals 

     d. Objectives 

     e. Actions 

     f. Goal 1 

     g. Goal 2 

     h. Goal 3  

5. Monitoring and Measurement 

     a. SDAT 

     b. Travel Surveys 

     c. HOTT 

     d. Travel Strategy Group 

6. Conclusion 

1 

2 

2 

3 

3 

4 

5 

10 

11 

11 

11 

11 

11 

11 

12 

14 

15 

16 

16 

16 

16 

16 

17 

17 

19 

19 

22 

22 

22 

22 

22 

22 
Page 21



Foreword

Climate change caused by carbon emissions from 
sources such as vehicles, has been quoted as being a 
major threat of the 21st century for public health. 
Combined within increasing health problems associated 
with inactivity, more sustainable travel, particularly 
active means such as cycling and walking, presents a 
unprecedented opportunity to deliver health and climate 
co-benefits. 
 
In a city where 5% of deaths can be attributed to poor 
air quality, efforts to encourage a move away from more 
polluting means of travel will also bring rewards for local 
health and reduce the burden on our services. North 
Bristol NHS Trust seeks to be a leader in the field of 
sustainable healthcare and through this travel plan we 
aspire to deliver the necessary actions to contribute to 
the UN’s global Sustainable Development Goals. 

Andrea Young, Chief Executive of North Bristol NHS Trust

 

1 

 

Page 22



1. Introduction

a. Travel Plan 2019-2023
This 2019 - 2023 Travel Plan outlines the progress North Bristol NHS Trust (NBT) has made to date and 
identifies the journey ahead in helping staff, patients and visitors to reach our sites. Enabling them to choose 
active and sustainable travel benefits them in terms of improved health and reduced costs but their efforts will 
also help us to reduce our environmental impacts. 
 
The goals of the Travel Plan are: 

With over 8,000 staff members and the additional patients and visitors who travel to site, NBT has a 
significant impact on local traffic flows and quality of the local environment; presenting a great 
opportunity for the Trust to be forward-thinking in providing safe, sustainable and accessible travel. 

"The Trust is in an enviable position of having a brand new facility with purpose-built 
secure cycling facilities and good public transport links. Over the past 15 years we 
have been encouraging firstly staff and later the public to reach our sites by more 
sustainable means of transport. During this time we have seen a significant movement 
away from single-occupancy vehicle journeys. Over one third of our staff are prepared 
to endure Bristol’s hills to reach our sites by bicycle and by foot. 
 
Despite our out-of-town location our Southmead site is served by over 39 buses per hour at peak times, 
which is testament to the design of our transport interchange and the desire by staff and patients to use 
these services. We anticipate a significant amount of change over the next 5 years as ownership of 
electric vehicles increases, measures to reduce emissions within the city are introduced and further 
improvements in cycling and public transport infrastructure are completed. With this in mind we have 
prepared a travel plan that encourages our existing trends but also seeks to influence the remaining 
percentage of single occupancy vehicle drivers. For the first time we will also seek to influence other 
forms of transport to our site such as deliveries from key suppliers." Simon Wood (Director of Facilities) 

Engage with staff, patients, visitors, local community, suppliers, partners and other 
stakeholders on sustainable travel and the health co-benefits; empowering them to convert to 
more sustainable modes of transport.

Monitor and report on the environmental and health impacts from emissions and air quality 
from travel/transport to our site to assess the effects and opportunities for improvements. 

Provide information, facilities, processes and infrastructure to facilitate and incentivise 
sustainable and active travel.

 

2 

 

Page 23



Throughout the 2013-2018 Travel Plan lifespan, NBT has remained committed to encouraging staff, patients 
and visitors to choose sustainable and active ways of travel when travelling to and from our various sites. 
Influencing patient and visitor travel has remained a challenge but good progress has made with encouraging 
our staff into alternatives to the private car. Our achievements below have been made possible by the actions 
of our staff, patients and visitors.  

Achievements: 
SOV for staff commuting reached an all- 
time low of 37% in 2018.  
 
 
Patient and visitor travel has been 
constant at 83% SOV.  
 
In 2014-15 a Bristol City Council survey 
found that more than 30% of parking in the 
vicinity of the Southmead site was 
attributable to staff/patients/visitors. 

Aims: 
• To reduce the number of Single Occupany Vehicle (SOV) journeys made to the hospital 
• To improve the travel choices and make them safe and accessible to all 
• To encourage healthier, environmentally, sustainable travel choices 

Targets: 
To achieve the target of and maintain 
single occupancy staff journeys to work 
below 55% 
 
To reduce single occupancy patient and 
visitor journeys to the hospital 
 
To limit the levels of on street parking by 
staff and visitors on roads within a 500m 
radius of the hospital to no more than 
30% of the total on street 

2. Achievements in 2013-2018

a. Headlines

 

3 

 

Page 24



The Trust has conducted its own staff travel survey in previous years (September), together with participating 
in a region-wide TravelWest survey organised by local authorities (March). The results are used to monitor the 
effectiveness of our efforts and to identify areas for improvement. The TravelWest survey results are used, 
amongst other things to influence the development of infrastructure to support sustainable travel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In 2016 the Trust undertook a staff Travel to Work survey, similar to that of 2012, to identify the modes of 
transport staff members choose for commuting. The comparison between the 2012 figures (before Travel Plan 
2013-2018) and the 2016 results (see Figure 1) identifies a decrease of 17.3% in Car Single Occupancy 
Vehicle journeys. This result is paired with an increase of 14.3% in Sustainable and Active Travel modes 
(cycling, walking and running, public transport, car-sharing, motorcycling and train.) 
 

b. Measure of Progress

 

4 

 

This result is confirmation of our commitment and success in encouraging and facilitating sustainable and 
active travel; reducing the Trusts’ environmental impacts and improving the health and wellbeing of staff 
members. 
 

For patients and visitors, comparisons between the 
2012 and 2017 survey results (see Figure 2) show a 
small increase of 0.5% of patients and visitors 
travelling by private vehicle. On going encouragement 
will be done through patient appointment letters and 
via the external internet travel pages. We will also 
track the implementation and removal of bus routes to 
identify any correlation between the provision of public 
transport and the choice of travel mode to site. We will 
look to investigate options for collecting patient travel 
information that cover a broader section of people 

Business Mileage 
The number of miles travelled for business 
purposes (e.g. patient home visits, meetings, 
training, etc.) has been steadily decreasing over 
recent years (see Figure 3), predominantly due 
to the loss of an area of service provision that 
necessitated frequent travel to patient homes 
and community settings. In 2018 the new 
Hospital at Home team was launched so it is 
anticipated that there will be an increase in 
business mileage associated with this service 
but in turn this will avoid the need for the public 
to travel to our sites to visit their relatives/friends. 

Figure 3. Trust Business Mileage between 2013/15 and 2017/18

Figure 1. Travel to Work Survey results.

over a longer time period, to improve on the current annual ‘snapshot’ surveys. In 2017, there was a decrease 
of 0.1% in patients and visitors travelling by a sustainable and active mode of transport which identifies the 
need for the Trust to better encourage and promote alternative travel to our patients and visitors who are able. 

Figure 2. Patient and Visitor Travel Survey results.

Page 25



Southmead Hospital Redevelopment

The Trust has seen considerable change since the 2013-2018 Travel Plan was written. Frenchay Hospital was
relocated with the majority of departments moved to the redeveloped Southmead site in 2014, followed by the
completion of Phase 2 in 2016. Approximately 4,000 staff members were relocated to the new hospital;
bringing with them both challenges and opportunities for travel choices. All staff members who were required
to relocate were offered Personal Travel Plans in order to ensure they were aware of the different travel
options available; making the move easier and reducing concerns over new commutes. 
 
A new public car park has opened on the Southmead site together with additional spaces being converted
from staff parking to public meaning more patients and visitors are able to find a space on site. Equally, the
large staff car parking area to the rear of the Brunel building has opened and staff who are not entitled to a
parking permit are encouraged to pay to park in a nearby leisure facility to reduce impacts on local on-street
parking.  In 2016 on-street parking within 500m of the site that was deemed to be by our staff, patients or
visitors was calculated to be just 3.24%, which is evidence that our efforts to provide sufficient car parking and
access to alternatives is being effective. 
 
In addition to this, the Bristol Enablement Services at Cribbs Causeway has opened and a large contingent of
staff that worked in the Child and Adult Mental Health service have been lost as the service has been taken
over by another provider. These changes have had an impact on commuting and the number of journeys
undertaken for business purposes. 

c. 2013-2018 Initiatives

Photographs showing some of the sustainable travel facilities which were incorporated into the redevelopment of the 
Southmead Hospital site. Top Left: Pathology Cycle Store, Top Right: Brunel Staff Motorcycle Parking in the Mutli- 

storey car park, Bottom Left: The Brunel staff Cycle Centre, Bottom Right: Brunel staff Changing Rooms.

This section explains what we have been working on over the past 5 years and the key learning points to 
take forwards into 2019-2023. 

 

5 

 

Page 26



The travel advice bureau, set up in 2010, advises staff of the sustainable and active 
travel options available. The scheme is run by the Sustainable Travel Coordinator; 
whose role moved from the Travel, Parking and Security Team, over to the 
Sustainable Development Unit in 2016. Under this new structure, TravelSmart solely 
focuses on the benefits and encouragement of sustainable and active travel whilst 
parking information and management continues to be provided from the Security and 
Parking Team. Sustainable Travel is now widely understood to be of strong value in 
improving health and wellbeing and is linked to multiple sustainability projects across 
the Trust and forms a key part of the Trust’s health and wellbeing offering. We have 
created a dedicated TravelSmart inbox and phone number to allow staff, patients and 
visitors who have queries or concerns regarding their travel to the hospital, to voice 
their opinions, get helpful information and obtain personal travel advice. TravelSmart 
promotes the facilities and benefits of sustainable travel through many 
communication channels available via the NBT Communications Team (e.g. 
Message of the Day, The Bulletin, Twitter (including a dedicated Sustainability 
account), Facebook, and emails). 

TravelSmart

Cycling

Our achievements in providing cycling facilities have excelled the 2013-2018 targets and 
none is more evident than the 1240 cycle parking spaces NBT currently offers - more than 
double the 2013 target of 600. The Brunel Cycle Centre was built to provide secure, 
undercover cycle parking with personal lockers, showers, changing facilities and a bike pump. An additional 
secure cycle store was created outside the Pathology Building in 2015, followed by three cycle shelters 
located by the Emergency Department. The creation of secure staff bicycle parking has released the cycle 
hoops outside the main hospital building entrances for use by visitors and patients. In 2013, we introduced 
a loan bike scheme which allows staff to ‘try before you buy’. The 23-strong fleet contains standard, folding 
and electric bikes. We continue to provide cycle mileage allowance for business journeys, a bike purchase 
scheme, travel roadshows and we partner with local companies to provide discounts, bike maintenance 
sessions and free cycling lessons. We have supported Bristol City Council in the creation of a dedicated 
‘Quietway’ to bring cyclists and pedestrians to the Southmead site via quieter and traffic-free routes.  

1240

Public Transport
NBT is an advocate in encouraging the use of public transport to our hospital sites. The 
Trust, together with our local authorities has worked with bus providers to ensure services 
are financially and socially accessible for all. We have installed three new bus stops outside 
the Brunel Building and an internal bus waiting area with real-time information displayed. 
This has resulted in Southmead Hospital becoming one of the largest interchanges in North 
Bristol, providing access across the city not just to people visiting the Southmead site but 
also to our local communities. To support the use of these services we have promoted 
discounted tickets to staff which has increased the uptake of this travel mode with many of 
our staff being updated on information and changes through the Public Transport User 
Group. 

39
buses per hour 

serving 

Southmead 

hospital; directly 

onsite and 

nearby bus 

stops (at peak 

times)

Engagement and helping people to understand the links between healthier 

lifestyle choices such as cycling to work, and the associated health benefits 

(e.g. fitness, less air pollution, fewer accidents), is key. 

Secure and local bike parking infrastructure with supporting facilities, together with an 
opportunity to trial a different way of travelling before committing to a change, is of 
value to our staff and has resulted in sustained behaviour change. 

Bus stop provision, accurate and timely information and signposting to 
cheaper ticket options and offers, directly impacts on bus use. 

Key 
Learning 

Point

 

6 

 

Examples of communication 
channels used by TravelSmart. 

Top: Message of the Day, Bottom: 
The SDU Twitter page.

Page 27



Walking and Running

Motorcycles 

A large number of personal lockers, showers and change facilities across the Southmead site have been 
provided so that staff can arrive at their workplace having showered and/or changed and with their 
belongings safely stowed. We have embedded our work to promote active travel within the Trust’s Health 
and Wellbeing offerings to staff and patients, and supplemented the active commute by offering 2 guided 
lunchtime walks each week. To ensure the ease of access to site we have worked to enhance entrances and 
routes through our Southmead site. In particular we have worked with Bristol City Council to use the 
remainder of the section 106 funding to improve the Kendon Way entrance. The removal of the old site gates 
and the installation of bollards has created a safe and segregated access for cyclists and pedestrians and 
now signals an attractive end to the new Southmead Quietway route. 

The Trust continues to provide free motorcycle parking bays for a growing number of 
motorcyclists across our sites. The construction of the Brunel building provided the 
opportunity to create our first dedicated secure, undercover motorcycle parking bays 
for staff. The Motorcycle User Group has been created to allow the Trust to 
communicate with motorcyclists and to gather staff motorcycle details in case of 
issues or emergencies. 

Electric Vehicles

The Southmead site received and installed an electric vehicle charging point in 
2014 through a local authority project (Source West) to widen the local 
charging network. It is publically available and is now Trust-owned. In 
2018, through partnership with South Gloucestershire Council, a further six 
charge points were installed in the Brunel multi-storey car park; providing 
charging facilities for staff, disabled users and the general public. All seven 
charge points are part of the national network and visible to the network 
members. The Trust has an Electric Vehicle User Group through which it 
communicates news and information to staff EV users. 

Since 2014 the 
Trust's charging 
points have been 
visited 855 times 

with a total of 
9,292kWh of 

electricity being 
used to charge 

vehicles.

Car Sharing 

Total CO2, Money and Mileage saved through the 
Trusts online car-sharing platform.

A Car Sharing Passenger Permit was introduced alongside the revised 
permit scheme in 2017, in order to encourage and incentivise car sharing 
to members of staff. This permit scheme allows car-sharers to make use 
of the 50 new dedicated parking bays which are conveniently situated on 
site. The Guaranteed Ride Home policy ensures that if the lead driver 
leaves work for an unexpected emergency, the passenger is still able to 
get home. 

CO2 Reduction 

Money savings 

78.00 Tonnes 

£45,281 

Mileage savings

399,105 miles

Safe, accessible sites with sufficient facilities, together with encouragement to 
incorporate walking as part of other means of travel (e.g. park and stride, hop 
off one stop early) deliver multiple benefits. 

Further facilities (e.g. ground anchors) are required across the site to extend 
the secure parking we offer motorcyclists. 

Electric vehicle ownership needs to be monitored to ensure 
further charging points are installed in line with demand. 

Deciding to car share is the most difficult change for 
staff to make and encouraging them to do so, is 
an area where there is still significant opportunity. 

 

7 

 

Page 28



Business Travel 
NBT aims to ensure that all staff members have the option of commuting sustainably even when their role 
requires them to make journeys during the working day. In 2015, the Trust reduced the number of car 
club providers on site but retained the same number of available vehicles. We now have 3 hybrid vehicles 
permanently based at the Southmead site which enable us to reduce business travel carbon emissions. 
Analysis of car club vehicle trials at other NBT sites has confirmed a demand for this service. The 3 cars 
are not sufficient however to accommodate all staff travel so the vast majority of miles undertaken are in 
private cars. The Trust’s Expenses Policy requires that staff utilise the most economical and sustainable 
modes of transport for business travel, thereby encouraging use of public transport or cycling, however 
this is at the manager’s discretion. 

In 2016 the Car Parking Policy was reviewed and updated in order to reflect the needs of the new hospital 
and allow effective management. A new 420-space multi-story car park was also completed in the same 
year which allows patients to park in close proximity to the main hospital building. It also includes 
undercover public cycle parking. In 2017, the Car Parking Policy was once more updated and included a 
new category of permit for car-share passengers. The revised permit scheme allows the Trust to ensure 
parking is managed and controlled whilst supporting the equal prioritisation of sustainable transport options. 
Robust enforcement regimes have been introduced to ensure that parking charge notices are followed up. 

Car Parking 

Figure 4. Map of criteria in the Parking Policy. 

Fleet Vehicles 
Fleet vehicles are currently managed individually by the departments which require them (e.g. IM&T, Medical 
Records, Estates, Porters, Transport Services) with a total of 70 separate vehicles being used by Trust staff 
for business use. Only 19 of these are Trust-owned with the remainder being leased. The largest user of 
vehicles is the Trust’s Facilities department using 39 vehicles to provide services from catering deliveries 
through to waste bin transfers. The Bristol Centre for Enablement is the second largest user leasing a total of 
22 vehicles. We have not been able to progress opportunities to consolidate the use of fleet vehicles but plan 
to investigate this in the 2019-2023 Travel Plan. 

A Trust-wide, shared, larger and more efficient fleet would enable greater use of pool vehicles by staff 
for business use and thereby reduce the carbon emissions and costs associated with this activity. 

In order to ensure that the site roads continue to run smoothly an active car park management 
approach is needed. This ensures that car parks are used correctly and that roads are kept 
clear of traffic at all times. 

Members of staff who want to park on site are 
required to meet particular criteria before a permit is 
granted or before moving onto a waiting list for 
permits. Criteria (see Figure 4) include not living 
within 2.5 km (10 minute cycle/25 minute walk - dark 
green) or 5 km (20 minute cycle or 1 hour walk - light 
green) radius of site or living outside of a public 
transport corridor which would enable them to reach 
site in 30 minutes or under (blue). Those who are 
unsuccessful in their applications are encouraged to 
seek the advice of TravelSmart who advise on the 
different travel options available, with the intention of 
discouraging non-essential car trips. As a contribution 
to maintaining the car parks, patients and visitors are 
required to pay to park on site. 

There is a need for more pool vehicles however the 
centralisation of this as part of all Trust fleet vehicles 
would be a more efficient and cost-effective solution. 

 

8 

 

Page 29



All Trust business cases require the completion of a Sustainability Impact Assessment (SIA) which includes 
consideration of travel-related impacts. Equally our business planning process requires consideration of 
resource use (e.g. fuel) and carbon emissions (e.g. emissions from fleet, journeys required etc.) These 
requirements will encourage the purchase of more efficient vehicles and a closer examination of any 
service changes which may result in a greater need for transport. 

Procurement 

TravelSmart proactively engages with staff members through various communication channels including a 
weekly slot for the Message of The Day; providing consistent information on the sustainable active travel 
facilities NBT offers for staff members. The Sustainable Travel Coordinator has organised and run  
numerous, annual TravelSmart Stalls offering advice and information about the facilities and initiatives 
NBT has to offer as well as inviting external travel organisations on site to better promote sustainable 
travel across Bristol. 

Proactive Engagement 

Sustainable Models of Care 

As explained earlier, completion of Sustainability Impact Assessments encourages the consideration of 
travel/transport as part of planned changes to care models. There are many examples of where technology 
has been used to reduce the need for patients to come to our sites, for example: renal telemedicine 
consultations, respiratory Skype/telemed consultations, MyPregnancy App, the Hospital at Home service 
and local health facilities (e.g. Cossham birth centre). 
 
Figure 5 below, highlights one of the health benefits associated with a move away from high dependence 
on personal vehicles and inefficient vehicles towards more sustainable forms of travel and transport. These 
benefits have been quantified through using the Health Outcomes of Transport Tool in section 3.g. 

More work is required to raise awareness of the sustainability (and health) benefits 
that arise from any change in service that results in a need for less travel. 

 An ongoing presence (e.g. display material) in areas of high footfall would provide 
an opportunity to raise awareness and provide information between events. 

Completed SIAs will be monitored to ensure that the options that reduce transport/travel 
emissions are being identified and considered.
More work is required to quantify the emissions and impacts associated with key suppliers. 

 

9 

 

Figure 5. Sustainable Healthcare Infographic

Page 30



Over the past 5 years we have continued to build relationships with stakeholders, including North Bristol 
SusCom. Through this partnership the Trust has greater representation in influencing commitments to 
capital expenditure for improved transport in the wider Bristol and South Gloucestershire region. 
Membership of and communication with a number of groups enables us to keep up to date with local travel 
information and share best practice. Through this relationship and working directly with the local 
authorities, TravelSmart has accessed multiple grants and match-funding. 

Our commitment and work in supporting sustainable travel throughout the previous Travel Plan has been 
recognised by a number of awards. 

Working Together

d. Acknowledgements of Achievement

Bristol Workplace 
Travel Network 

Bristol Walking Alliance 

Sustainable Travel in Health and Wellbeing

NBT acknowledges that sustainability dovetails with health and wellbeing and understands that sustainable 
travel can improve both physical and mental health of staff, patients and visitors. In 2016/2017, the Trust 
established a Pathway to Wellbeing working group and delivery plan to promote the health and wellbeing of 
our staff, patients and the local community through the improvement and provision of access to high quality 
green space, the arts, the environment, healthy food choices, and exercise. Through proactive 
engagement, communication and implementation, we encourage staff to think about how their travel 
choices impact on their personal health and wellbeing and also on the visitors, patients and local 
community.  

The Lets Walk North Bristol walking map highlighting routes between local GP 
surgeries, nearby greenspaces and the Southmead site was well received by NBT 
clinicians and could be duplicated for other local GP surgeries not currently covered by 
the map. 

Maintaining existing partnerships is essential for keeping up to date with external impacts 
which may effect journeys to our sites; allowing us to be reactive and resilient. Continuing to 
engage with our stakeholders will help identify opportunities for further improvements. 

2015: Public Sector Sustainability Awards: Runners up in the Best Transport/Travel 
          Plan Project. 
          NHS Sustainability Awards: Highly Commended 
 
2016: TravelWest Sustainable Travel Awards: Winner in Most Improved 
           Workplace, Winner of Organisation of the Year and Highly 
           Commended in Sustainable Travel Champion 
           TravelWest Travel Plan Accreditation: Silver Star Level 
 
2017: Placed on the West of England Green 50 List. 
          TravelWest Sustainable Travel Awards: Shortlisted in the Sustainable Travel Champion 
  
2018: Sustainable Health and Care Awards: Highly Commended in Travel and Logistics. 
          TravelWest Sustainable Travel Awards: Shortlisted in Long-term Commitment to Sustainable Travel  

10 

 

Sustainability Leads 
Car Parking and Travel Planning Network

 

Page 31



a. The Joint Local Transport Plan

b. Climate Change

d. Sustainable Development Policy and Management Plan

As a healthcare provider dealing with ill health arising from poor air quality, the Trust has a duty to do what we 
can to reduce the 25% of local carbon dioxide emissions that are attributed to transport (Bristol Transport 
Strategy Consultation 2018). Endeavours in this area will also contribute to our efforts to adapt to and mitigate 
the impacts of climate change, which the World Health Organisation cites as the biggest threat to world heath 
in the 21st Century. Through encouraging active travel for staff, patients and visitors the Trust also hopes to 
contribute to a reduction in the 67% of adults in the region who are at an increasing risk of ill health due to low 
physical activity (Joint Local Transport Plan 3 2011-2026). 

The Trust has a Sustainable Development 
Policy (SDP) which commits us to reducing the 
impacts associated with travel, prepare our 
community for climate change and to engage with 
staff, visitors, patients and the local community on 
the financial, social and health benefits of sustainable 
development. This policy and the associated 
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP) 
are influenced by the national Sustainable 
Development Strategy for the Health and Social Care 
System – Sustainable, Healthy Resilient People and 
Places, in particular the need to focus on carbon 
hotspots such as travel and logistics. 

As a major employer in the city of Bristol, we have a responsibility to support the 
goals of the Joint Local Transport Plan (JLT). The NBT Travel Plan supports the 
JLT vision of an affordable, low carbon, accessible, integrated, efficient and 
reliable transport network to achieve a more competitive economy and better 
connected, more active and healthy communities. More details can be found on 
the JLT website: 

3. Drivers for the Travel Plan

www.travelwest.info/projects/joint-local-transport-plan 

 

11 

 

c. NHS Long Term Plan
IThe NHS Long Term Plan, published in January 2019, outlines the 
commitments the NHS has made to reduce the impacts of air pollution. The 
Plan commits the NHS to reduce both business mileages and fleet air 
pollutant emissions by 20% by 2023/24 with at least 90% of NHS fleet using 
low emission engines (and 25% being Ultra-Low Emissions) by 2028.

Page 32



f. Expected Trends and Influences
Over the coming years there are several factors that may influence travel locally and within the city of Bristol 
and beyond and which will have consequences for journeys to Trust sites. 

Bus Funding 

The goals supported by the Travel and Logistics category include the following: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Some of the statements within the SDAT that support these goals include: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We have assessed our transport and travel and have calculated the carbon footprint of our business 
travel (all road, rail and air) and patient transport services. (goal 13) 
We have a board approved business travel policy to support sustainable travel choices and this is 
communicated to staff. ( goal 11) 
We have a Board approved healthy/active travel plan, developed in coordination with staff, patients, 
users, clients, visitors and local communities, to encourage active travel. (goal 3) 
We have implemented and advertised electric vehicle charging points at our key sites and they can be 
accessed by staff, patients and visitors. (goal 11) 
We can evidence at least one example of using new technologies or innovations to minimise travel in 
the delivery of our services (e.g. telemedicine, Geographical Information Systems, freight 
consolidation). (goal 12) 
At least 10% of our fleet and pool vehicles are fully electric i.e. on the government Go Ultra Low 
approved vehicles or similar government approved EV list. (goal 11) 

As part of the hospital redevelopment, a fund was set up to support public transport coming to the Southmead 
site. This fund has been used to subsidise journeys that are not deemed commercially viable by the transport 
operator but which are essential for allowing staff to reach site in time for the 12 hour shift start and finish 
times.  

 

12 

 

The national assessment and 
benchmarking tool for sustainability in 
healthcare is the Sustainable 
Development Assessment Tool 
(Figure 6). 
 
The tool consists of 296 statements 
against which the Trust assesses 
itself. The statements are grouped 
into categories with 32 relating to 
travel and logistics. Each statement 
also supports one of the 17 UN 
Sustainable Development Goals.  

e. Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT)

Figure 6. NBTs current progress in the SDAT for the Travel and Logistics category.

The aims and targets of this Travel Plan will seek to support progress towards these statements, as 
described in the associated Travel Plan Action Plan (separate document). 

Page 33



Workplace Levy 
The City Council is also considering the introduction of a workplace levy whereby 
organisations are charged for the provision of car parking spaces for staff. If the levy 
were to be applied to NBT then the cost will either be passed on to staff, in which 
case current permit holders may choose to give them up in favour of parking in nearby 
streets, or the Trust absorbs the cost which will impact on our budgets. 

Severn Bridge Tolls 
In late December 2018, the tolls were removed from the Severn and 
Prince of Wales bridges. Staff who avoided these fees by catching the 
train to Parkway station or using bus services may decide to use their 
car instead, which may increase the levels of SOV but also presents an 
opportunity to encourage car-sharing. 

Electric Vehicle Ownership 
Electric vehicles and the supporting infrastructure has been increasing steadily over recent years and this is 
predicted to grow more rapidly within the timescale of this Travel Plan. If growth continues in this way (see 
Figure 7) there will be an increased requirement for infrastructure including work-place and community charge 
points. 

4,000 
E-Vs on UK Roads

3,000 
public charge points

9 
models for sale

1 in 900 

new cars
2012

150,000 

E-Vs on UK Roads

16,000 

public charge points

50+ 
models for sale

1 in 50 

new cars2018

1 million 
E-Vs on UK Roads

100,000 
public charge points

150+ 
models for sale

1 in 10 

new cars2023

Clean Air Zone 
Bristol City Council is proposing a city-centre clean air zone which will involve 
charging the owners of the most polluting vehicles to drive through an area of 
the city which has high levels of air pollution. This will impact on anyone 
travelling to Trust sites who passes through the zone but also deliveries to and 
between sites, community staff travelling into the area to see patients and travel 
to/from city-centre locations for business purposes. 

www.cleanairforbristol.org 

 

13 

 

Figure 7. Data from BP Chargemaster.

The funding for supported morning/evening/weekend journeys across 4 bus routes will come 
to an end in the 2019-20 financial year and this may result in the operators deciding to 
remove these journeys from the timetable. For staff using these services and who are without 
access to private vehicles, this will present significant difficulties in reaching site, with the 
main option being active travel or car-sharing. TravelSmart will assist these individuals in 
finding an alternative method of commuting. The Trust may see an increase in SOV journeys 
for those current bus users who switch to car use if the bus services cease. 

Page 34



The Trust commissioned Liftshare to produce a scoping report which analysed staff postcodes and identified 
the availability of potential alternative modes of travel. The report findings were based on anonymous 
postcode data correct as of April 2018. The Trust has a large variety of shift patterns that staff can work and 
due to the nature of the data available to us to use, three reports were created based on three key shift 
times (0700-1900, 0800-1600 and 1900-0700) and for staff travelling to the Southmead site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Even given a large caveat (not all staff work these shift patterns, are based at Southmead, have access to a 
car/bicycle or can share because of caring responsibilities), this highlights a clear potential to increase both 
car sharing and cycling (see Figure 8). However to achieve the maximum benefits these conversions need 
to be from SOV users rather than other modes of travel. 

g. Measures of Potential

17%
of staff members live within

a walkable distance of
Southmead (capped at

1.5miles)

66%
of staff members live

within a distance which
could be cycled (capped

at 6miles)

92%
of staff members live

within a 1 mile radius of
greater than 9 other staff

members

Figure 8. Scoping map identifying clusters of postcodes where NBT staff live. Each dot represents a postcode where 1 or more staff members reside e.g BS10 
5NB. The red location icon identifies Southmead Hospital location. 

 

14 

 

Page 35



 
We have used the Sustainable Development Unit’s Health Outcomes of Travel Tool (HOTT), to explore the 
benefits and impacts of increasing car-share and cycling rates over the next 5 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The graph above (Figure 9) shows the total numbers of quality adjusted years of life lost due to the air 
pollution, accidents and noise associated with travelling to our sites. A quality adjusted life year (QALY) is 
defined as a measure of the state of health of a person or group in which the benefits, in terms of length of 
life, are adjusted to reflect the quality of life. One QALY is equivalent to 1 year of life in perfect health. The 
negative impacts associated with travelling to our sites are highlighted by the number of QALYs lost on the 
graph below. In 2018 this figure stands at 38.3. The graph also shows how the numbers of years lost would 
be reduced if we were to achieve the target of a 2% increase in both cycling and car-sharing every year until 
2023. 
 
To measure progress an interim target for 2021 has also been profiled. If we achieved 2% increases in both 
modes annually then by 2021 the numbers of QALYs lost would be reduced to 35.16 and by 2023 the 
impact would have been reduced to 32.56. The rate of improvement reduces over time because of an in- 
built assumption that the polluting nature of vehicles on the road will have reduced (e.g. greater use of 
hybrid/electric, Euro 4 and Euro 6 engine vehicles.) 
 
If we were to achieve the 2% increase annually across both cycling and car-sharing the Trust would also 
make savings of 107 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases) 
compared with a ‘business as usual’ approach.   
 

h. Measuring the Health Outcomes of Travel Choices

Figure 10 highlights the breakdown 
of carbon emissions from staff 
commuting, patient/visitor travel, 
business mileage where staff use 
their own cars (grey fleet) and 
business mileage using other 
modes (e.g. air, bus, taxi and 
rail). The largest elements are 
firstly patient and visitor travel 
(4,997 tonnes of carbon dioxide 
in 17-18) and staff commuting 
(2,692 tonnes). 
 
If we were to achieve the target of a 2% increase annually across both cycling and car-sharing the Trust 
would make savings of 107 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (carbon dioxide and other greenhouse 
gases) compared with a ‘business as usual’ approach.  The benefits for air pollution would also be positive 
with levels of nitrous oxide attributable to staff commuting and business travel dropping from 5.49 tonnes per 
year currently to 3.44 tonnes in 2023 and particulates being reduced by 62%. 

 

15 

 

Figure 9. The number of QALYs lost if various scenarios occur throughout the lifecycle of this Travel Plan.

Figure 10. Carbon emissions from different travel related carbon sources in the Trust.

Page 36



a. Introduction

4. Vision and Objectives

Whilst supporting the Joint Local Transport Plan, the aims of the Trusts’ Travel Plan 2019-2023 reflect the 
objectives set out by the UN Sustainable Development Goals which have been adopted by the NHS 
Sustainable Development Unit; with progress being assessed through the Sustainable Development 
Assessment Tool. This Travel Plan will apply to the staff, patients and visitors of the Trust and to any other 
organisations with a presence on the site, such as other Trusts and Universities. The themes and principles 
within the plan shall, where relevant, apply to all of the Trust’s sites. 

The following objectives have been chosen to enhance the current positive travel mode trends and to 
encourage improvements in areas where there is still considerable potential. 

b. Vision

c. Goals

4%
1. Reduce SOV by 4% per year 

2%
2. Increase numbers of cyclists by 

2% per year 

2+ 2%

2%

3. Increase numbers of lift-sharers by 

2% per year 

6. Increase fleet electric vehicles by 
2% per year 

16%

4. Maintain current walking figures 

15%
5. Maintain public transport use 

7. Reduce QALYs lost by 3% per year

3%
 

16 

 

Our vision is to be a leader in the field of sustainable healthcare; promoting and actively supporting 
sustainable modes of travel to improve health and wellbeing and mitigate against the impact of climate 
change.

Engage with staff, patients, visitors, local community, suppliers, partners and 
other stakeholders on sustainable travel and the health co-benefits; empowering 
them to convert to more sustainable modes of transport.

Monitor and report on the environmental and health impacts from emissions and 
air quality from travel/transport to our site to assess the effects and opportunities 
for improvements. 

Provide information, facilities, processes and infrastructure to facilitate and 
incentivise sustainable and active travel.

d. Objectives

7. Reduce business mileage by 4% per year

4%
Page 37



e. Actions

Figure 11 identifies the 2018 baseline for each objective, the 2023 target and how we will measure our 
progress.

 

17 

 

Figure 11. Baseline, Targets and Measures for the Travel Plan Aims. 

To meet each of the objectives which have been established to achieve the goals of the Travel Plan, a 
number of actions will be delivered. As many of the actions support more than one objective, the actions are 
set out under each goal. The next section goes through the initiatives we will implement to support these 
goals and objectives. Icons of the UN Sustainable Development Goals are presented at various points to 
identify how the Travel Plan will support the goals.

Engage with staff, patients, visitors, local community, suppliers, 
partners and other stakeholders on sustainable travel and the 
health co-benefits; empowering them to convert to more 
sustainable modes of transport.

f. Goal 1

Sustainable Travel Leads 
The Sustainable Development Unit which sits within the Facilities Directorate, supported by the Security and 
Parking team, will ensure the Travel Plan is implemented across the Trust. Training and attendance at 
external events will be supported to ensure continual sharing of best practice and innovation. 

Supporting Travel Choices 
After the success of the last 8 years, the travel advice bureau (TravelSmart) will continue to provide 
advice and information to staff with increasing support given to patients and visitors. Multi-modal 
sustainable and active travel options will be encouraged as flexible and expected ways to commute 
to work. 

Communication and Engagement 
The engagement of staff, patients and visitors is a vital tool in raising 
awareness of the benefits to sustainable active travel. The Sustainable 
Travel Co-ordinator will continue to hold awareness events, through 
TravelSmart, on a variety of days, times and locations offering advice and 
information to staff, patients and visitors about the cost savings and 
personal benefits of sustainable modes of commuting. 

Page 38



Health and Wellbeing 
Sustainable active travel will continue to be promoted as an important part of improving the health and 
wellbeing of everyone. TravelSmart will be included in NBT’s other Health and Wellbeing campaigns, as a 
facility which can help staff members improve their personal resilience through being active. 

Social Prescribing/Delivery of Services 
As part of our work we will seek to increase the prescribing of walking and 
cycling as an alternative or to compliment, other interventions, as 
recommended by NICE guidance. The health and wellbeing benefits will be 
promoted and routes will be identified through the Let’s Walk North Bristol 
walking routes maps and leaflets. In particular we will encourage the inclusion 
of walking and cycling in chronic disease pathways. (Public health guideline 
PH41). This is particularly relevant for patients living locally within the 
Southmead ward as levels of physical exercise are some of the lowest in the 
city with only 45-52% of people getting enough regular exercise (JSNA Data 
Profile 2018). The Trust will work with local community groups in the 
Southmead area to create another walking map, highlighting the routes through 
the north west of the hospital. 

 

18 

 

Collaborative Infrastructure and Travel Improvements 
With Southmead Hospital being one of the largest public transport 
interchanges in North Bristol, the Trust will continue to encourage staff, 
patients, visitors and the local community to use public transport when 
travelling to our sites and around Bristol. With links to the city centre 
and other parts of the city, we will continue to work in partnership with 
Bristol City Council, South Gloucestershire and local bus companies to 
ensure services are efficient, safe and accessible for all. Where and 
when our sites are poorly accessed by public transport, the Trust will 
continue to lobby public transport providers to improve provision. 
 

Contractors and Suppliers 
We will seek to influence contractors and suppliers in their use and choice of transport. 

The Trust recognises the importance of working with stakeholders and partners to reduce the environmental 
impacts and maximise the health benefits achieved through sustainable travel. In particular we will continue to 
work with other local organisations through membership of the North Bristol SusCom group to reduce 
congestion and support the development of a fully integrated, sustainable transport network for North Bristol. 
Existing relationships with local authorities will be maintained and we will seek to further develop links with 
local transport providers to maximise the provision of services into areas with high numbers of staff and 
patients. 

Staff, patients and visitors who are able, will be encouraged to travel to our sites on foot and NBT will 
participate in national awareness days to engage staff with walking, running, cycling, motorcycling, public 
transport and car-sharing. The use of more innovative engagement tools will be explored 

Page 39



Business Travel and Mileage 
The Trust will aim to bring sustainable and active travel to the forefront of business travel arrangements. We 
will seek to further understand the Trust’s business travel patterns and needs, and build on existing policy 
requirements to use the most economical and environmental modes of transport. A business travel review 
will be undertaken with the aim of understanding current patterns and staff will be proactively encouraged to 
use public transport where economical and practical; consequently reducing SOV business journeys. 

Environmental Impact Targets 
We will assess the impacts of our vehicle options (carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and fine 
particulates) as part of our procurement to assess which would be the most sustainable option. 
 
We will first establish the carbon footprint (greenhouse gases and air pollution) associated with the delivery 
of goods and services to our organisation and will then set a target to reduce these impacts. Where contracts 
involve transportation, for example deliveries, the tendering suppliers will be asked how they intend to 
reduce the emissions associated with delivering to our sites. Key contracts will have carbon dioxide (CO2) 
and nitrous oxide (NOx) reduction targets which will be monitored using the Sustainable Development Unit’s 
Health Outcomes of Travel Tool (HOTT). 

Fleet, Pool Cars and Transport 
Where vehicles are required, there will be a minimum specification 
introduced (Euro4 petrol and Euro6 diesel) with electric or hybrid 
vehicles being chosen wherever feasible. 

 

19 

 

Monitor and report on the environmental and health impacts from 
emissions and air quality from travel/transport to our site to assess 
the effects and opportunities for improvements.  

g. Goal 2

h. Goal 3

Provide information, facilities, processes and infrastructure to 
facilitate and incentivise sustainable and active travel. 

Active Travel Facilities 
Entrances on each side of the Southmead site allow the site to be entered from each direction with 
pedestrian and cycling access-only site entrances at two sides. The site has wide pavements lined 
with trees and direct routes between all buildings creating an aesthetically pleasing area to walk 
around. Change and shower facilities will continue to be available to all staff to use. 
 
Cycling will continue to be promoted and supported as an alternative 
mode of travel; ensuring that the facilities are fit for purpose and efficient 
for demand. We will look to expand or upgrade our facilities if/when 
demand increases. Secure cycle parking sheds, cycle hoops, showers, 
and change and locker facilities will remain available to staff. We will seek 
to provide better facilities to visitors i.e. secure cycle parking and change 
facilities. 

Page 40



The Trust’s Estate Strategy sets out the development of the 
estate which falls outside of the land and buildings managed 
by our PFI contractor. Further development is planned over the 
next 5 years and beyond which will see new and refurbished 
infrastructure and buildings. The strategy requires consideration 
 of sustainable development and sustainable travel and the 
Master Plan for the Southmead site incorporates improved 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport access including work to 
create a new cycle and pedestrian route into the Hospital from 
Southmead Road (completion scheduled in mid-2019). 
 
To ensure cycling is seen as a flexible and accessible option for 
all, we will look to provide facilities such as car bicycle racks, 
allowing staff who live further afield to take multi-modal journeys. 

Supporting Travel Choices 
Cycling will be promoted and supported as an alternative mode 
of travel; ensuring that staff are aware of the support available 
to them. Free bike loans, the cycle to work scheme, cycling mileage and bike maintenance sessions will 
continue to be supplied. A cyclist 'Buddy Scheme' will be introduced which will partner new or nervous 
cyclists with someone who is more experienced to offer support on their commutes. The Trust will 'investigate 
the creation of a Cycling to Southmead map, highlighting the various cycle routes that could be taken from 
different parts of the city. We will continue to encourage the development of further 'Quietways' for our 
cyclists and walkers. 
 
                              A recent scoping report (see page 14) identified that 92% of staff members live within a 1 
                              mile radius of more than 9 other staff members who are potential car share matches. This 
                              identifies the need for greater awareness and understanding of the potential of car sharing 
                              between staff. The Trust will promote the flexibility and benefits of car sharing to all staff 
                              members, using online matching websites to simplify the process of finding a car share 
                              match. As demand increases, we will allocate more priority parking and aim to reach 200 
                              dedicated spaces. 
 
Although the Trust understands that motorcycles are still a source of pollution, their use will continue to be 
encouraged as a solution to congestion. The Trust will continue to work with local authorities to promote 
motorcycle safety training and with local suppliers to offer taster events, incentives and discounts. We will 
encourage the uptake of electric motorcycles and provide a greater quantity of ground anchors or similar, to 
improve motorbike security on all sites. A motorbike 'Buddy Scheme' will look to be established whereby new 
motorcyclists can be shadowed by more experienced riders on their first commute. The Trust will continue to 
engage with users through the Motorcycle User Group 

200

car 
share 

spaces

2+

 

20 

 

Business Travel and Mileage 
We will continue to provide pool cars as an aid for staff who choose to commute sustainably but are required 
to travel during the working day. An increased awareness of the pool car scheme may subsequently require 
an increase in vehicles on site which the Trust will aim to resource. The existing fleet of 3 pool vehicles 
together with all Trust owned and leased vehicles will be reviewed with the intention of centralising vehicle 
procurement, management and responsibility. Detailed mileage information will be maintained for all Trust 
vehicles with monthly mileage and carbon reporting being established. We will use proven techniques such 
as ‘miles per gallon’ league tables, driving tips and driver training to encourage more efficient driving 
amongst regular users. 

Page 41



We will conduct a scoping study which identifies the Trust's current pool vehicles, 
remaining lease periods and user requirements, together with potential alternatives to 
our existing  approach, to determine the feasibility of a centralised pool vehicle system. 

Delivery of Services 
To support the existing ethos of ‘care closer to home’ we will continue to examine our 
approaches to service delivery in order that the need to come to the main hospital site can 
be avoided wherever possible. We will design our care models as Sustainable Models of 
Care (see page 9) and consider the use of technologies to support this aim. 

Improved Air Quality 
The Trust already has video conferencing facilities which will be further promoted. However this 
will be further explored particularly with other members of the Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership to examine opportunities to reduce business travel and improve air quality across 
the region.   

Electric Vehicles 
We will facilitate more charging points as and when demand increases and 
additional capacity is required. As the government pushes for no new sales of 
petrol and diesel cars by 2040, local deals on 100% electric cars will be promoted 
to staff through awareness events and communication channels. 
 
If the situation arises in which the Trust centralises its fleet, the new fleet will be to 
a minimum sustainability specification with at least 20% being fully electric. 

Car Parking 
With continuing site development plans allowing the possibility of car park expansions, the Trust will look to 
increase the amount of parking spaces available for both staff and public in order to aid the demand on the 
available car parks on site. In 2019, Parking Services will conduct an assessment of the site wide signage in 
order to ensure that all information is correct and up to date, this should aid in further traffic reduction, ensuring 
that all car parks are easy to find and simple for users. 
 
The Parking team will continue to streamline all car park management systems and strategies to offer the best 
parking experience possible. The Trust will investigate the use of new technologies such as Variable Message 
Signage and counting systems in order to improve the management techniques being used. To improve the 
management of the staff parking permit systems we will be looking into new technologies in order to allow the 
staff members to take full management of their parking payments. Parking Services will look to remove the 
need to manage the permit fees from payroll and aim to introduce a user controlled system, where staff 
members could pay as they park and top up their parking using a ‘digital wallet system’. 

 

21 

 

Page 42



a. Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT)

b. Travel Surveys 

5. Monitoring and Measurement

We will monitor and assess our travel and transport annually using the SDAT.  
 

c. Health Outcomes of Travel Tool
We will use the tool to annually review the progress of our targets; updating the data to reflect changes in 
SOV and sustainable travel modes to identify the impacts on Quality of Life Year adjusted. 
 

The Trust will continue to measure the travel choices made by staff through participating in the Travel to Work 
Survey organised by the local authorities. By participating in a region-wide survey, the journeys made by 
Trust staff and their consequential impacts will not only inform our decisions but will be seen in a wider, pan- 
region context and be used to validate and deliver supportive infrastructure developments in our area. 
 
Patient and visitor travel choices will be recorded each year through various methods to ensure a higher 
participation rate which provides reflective and useful data. We will report on progress quarterly to the Trust’s 
Travel Strategy Group, annually to the Trust Board and publically via our Sustainable Development 
Management Plan and Annual Report. Our annual performance data will also be shared with the national 
Sustainable Development Unit, BNSSG Clinical Commissioning Group and reported to the Department of 
Health (ERIC). 
 

d. Travel Strategy Group
The Travel Strategy Group will monitor progress against the Travel Plan Action Plan at our quarterly 
meetings.

 

22 

 

6. Conclusion

The Travel Plan 2019-2023 sets out work required to create a hospital which is safe, sustainable and 
accessible to all. 
 
Through understanding external influences, staff, patient and visitor travel choices and mode potentials, we 
will have the knowledge to take the necessary steps to reduce the environmental, social and financial 
impacts of travel to our sites. We will seek to engage and educate staff, patients and visitors on the health, 
wellbeing, financial and environmental benefits of active and sustainable travel whilst simultaneously 
delivering reductions in congestion, air pollution and carbon emissions. We also commit to engaging with our 
supply chain and contractors to reduce the impacts of the transport associated with the delivery of goods 
and services to our sites. Combined, we hope that our efforts will lead to a reduced contribution to climate 
change and a more resilient and sustainable community. 

Contact us:                    TravelSmart@nbt.nhs.uk                                0117 4142576
Page 43



BNSSG

Mental Health and Well Being 

Strategy update

P
age 44

A
genda Item

 10



An overview of MH in our the system

P
age 45



• In BNSSG, mental ill health 

results in poorer physical health 

and reduced life expectancy.  

• There are many projects and 

services across health, social 

care and public health but they 

still appear fragmented to 

service users

• People want to know about the 

full range of ways to get support 

or help at an earlier stage they 

don’t care who provides it 

Why have a Healthier Together 

Mental Health and Well being Strategy? 

20 years gap in life 

expectancy 

P
age 46



Analysing agreed data 

sources and sharing the 

problems to solve

Mapping and connecting work 

in progress, ranging from our 

programme of work meet the 

Five Year Forward View for 

Mental Health to Thrive

Horizon scanning for best 

practice and innovation

So far the development of this strategy has included:

Engagement with over 

1400 people

Co-designing with people 

with lived experiences, 

their families and carers –

commission experts with 

lived experience to author  

stakeholder engagement 

programme and campaign 

using social media, 

deliberative citizens 

panels and focus groups  

Approach

P
age 47



Respect and dignity is still just not happening we 

are made to feel bad or a burden for accessing 

the wrong support 

When you have drug and alcohol issues, you 

can’t get support as they don’t see you as a 

single person -you are different illnesses

Insights from experts by experience 

Being told you need to wait for a month 

when you don’t know if you can go on for 

another day is challenging 

CBT is helpful but the real issue I have is 

security about having a home. If I got that 

sorted life would be so much better    

P
age 48



being so under staffed and not able to 

really help people is demotivating we 

are just managing risk not recovery

as clinicians often we don’t know 

where to send people for support 

especially if they need something today 

/ very immediately

Insights from professionals 

Well being is the foundation for everything

It is not the counterpoint of having a long 

term MH condition  - we need to strive to 

support everyone to live well with MH  

The process of referrals is too slow and 

doesn’t make the best use of resources from 

all our settings Hubs and working together 

better cant come fast enough

P
age 49



• Equity, standardisation and reducing 
variation

• Integrated experiences for people –
access in local community, commissioned 
services & primary care based models, 
end to end seamless pathways by design

• Parity in physical and mental health and 
parity in ages 

• Mental Health genuinely becoming 
everybody’s business

• Prevention & Early Intervention leading 
from a life course approach

• To reduce the level of crisis, reliance on 

high acuity service and have a clear 

pathway for people who reach an 

emergency point 

• Adapting services to reflect local 

communities/Locality Transformation 

• Complexity – e.g. Personality Disorder, 

ADHD, Medically Unexplained Symptoms, 

multifaceted presentation

• Reducing the gap between secondary & 

primary care by improving the service 

offering – IAPT+

• Focus on Children & Young People -

CAMHs and ACES – managing demand

7

Principles

Themes  
Spotlight Areas

P
age 50



Reducing the impact of mental illness, 

supporting healthier happier lives for everyone

“Bringing together health, local authority and 

voluntary sector organisations across BNSSG to 

help people have the best mental health and 

wellbeing they can in supportive, inclusive, thriving 

communities”

Vision

P
age 51



This will be the first integrated MH and Well Being strategy 

for the people of BNSSG taking us from 2019-2029. Creating 

seamless support and services, designed around the life 

course and reflecting the continuum of Mental Health and Well 
Being and the connection with physical health  

We will do more 
together so that people 

thrive in their 
communities 

We will find a way of 
shifting from spending as 
a system on crisis to 

spending on prevention

We want to invest in 

prevention and 
children and 
young people 

A greater focus on 
measuring value is 

critical ( experience, 
outcome and £ 
allocation )  

Strategy  

P
age 52



Prevention 

Crisis / Reactive  

R
e
la

ti
v
e
 R

e
s
o
u
rc

e
 a

ll
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 £

 

We are currently here 

The collective 

impact of our strategy 

we move to here … and 

beyond  

Shifting the dial 

Crisis ( lose-lose ) to Prevention (win /win) 

Interventions that help us shift 

P
age 53



Optimise current services and community assets

‘Open Doors’ online connection to give and get emotional support in your 

community right now.  

Promote Resilience and avoid Crisis

Sanctuary Spaces / Integrated Community Hubs /Street Triage / AWP / IUC 

CAS / A&E all fully integrated with housing, debt support and employment 

services around the people who need the most support  

Design a new approach for actual MH emergency /intense crisis 

we need a new response / pathway to support when the MH emergency is 

happening and people are no longer able to act for themselves and need 

someone else to take control  

Focus on CYP

PIE and TIE in schools; Supporting Parents and families, Community 

activities. CYP develop my ‘I thrive 4 life plan’ a life course approach to 

managing health

Provider Resilience health and social care

Linked to above but also needs critical immediate focus on Workforce / 

Integrated Pathways /Bed Models / Community services review outcomes. All 

supported by better data to draw insights and PDSA cycles of improved 

design/ value  based pathways examples Trieste WHO site global exemplar  

Emerging Actions    

P
age 54



Locality Based Support and Services 

Bespoke Intensive Crisis Response 

Condition Specific Pathways of Care  

Architectural model of services

Examples of 

locality 

based 

support. 

Majority of 

MH need 

met here  

Designed 

around 

condition 

and life 

course 

Not just 

health input 

…

Crisis Care 

community 

based 

Designed 

around 

needs 

Thrive Principles Embedded

Act early - Connect to support

P
age 55



P
age 56



Mental Health Emergency
A mental health emergency is a life threatening situation in 

which an individual is imminently threatening harm to self or 

others, severely disorientated or out of touch with reality, has a 

severe inability to function, or is otherwise distraught and out of 

control.

Examples of a Mental Health Emergency includes:

• Acting on a suicide threat

• Homicidal or threatening behaviour

• Self- injury needing immediate medical attention

• Severely impaired by drugs or alcohol

• Highly erratic or unusual behaviour that indicates very 

unpredictable behaviour and/or an inability to care for 

themselves.

P
age 57



Mental Health Crisis
A mental health crisis is a non-life threatening situation in which an 

individual is exhibiting extreme emotional disturbance or behavioural 

distress, considering harm toself or others, disoriented or out of touch with 

reality, has a compromised ability to function, or is otherwise agitated and 

unable to be calmed.

Examples of a Mental Health Crisis includes:

• Talking about suicide threats

• Talking about threatening behaviour

• Self- injury, but not needing immediate medical attention

• Alcohol or substance abuse

• Highly erratic or unusual behaviour

• Eating disorders

• Not taking their prescribed psychiatric medications

• Emotionally distraught, very depressed, angry or anxious

P
age 58



Analysis of existing data sets from a number of sources

• Prevalence of common mental illness is high across BNSSG compared to other 

benchmarked systems, ( 22%) SMI less pronounced variation and we spend more in BNSSG

• There is a strong link in Bristol (particularly) and North Somerset re drugs and alcohol. In 

Bristol also homelessness is also a significant contributing/ complicating factor within mental 

health with low numbers of people in treatment

• There are significant levels of self-harm (40% above England average) separate to but 

related to suicide (BNSSG average, Bristol and NS above average)

• South Gloucestershire has relatively low levels of mental ill health as an overall population 

but there is significant and increasing morbidity in CYP (emergent problems)

• Physical health problems for people with mental illness appears very concerning in North 

Somerset (70% above average for under 75s) and needs improvement in Bristol for over 75s

• ED is the most obvious non-MH specific physical health impact ( 53% od ED admissions 

have drug/ Alcohol / MH  in the ICD coding ) and there’s high comorbidity with Hyper tension 

and AF (links to smoking, diet, exercise et al)

Data Analysis – Key insights

P
age 59



Who pays 

Crisis 
Current System 

Focus  

Collecting 

data and 

insights 

Thrive

Well being 

and 

prevention 
How we 

deliver 

value 

Crisis 

Thrive Prevention 

Well being  

Collecting 

data and 

insights 

Future System 

Focus  

Strategy  

MH

/PH

MH/PH

Equally 

Well

P
age 60



Conversation 1  - Prevention 

Balance and connection between mental health 
and well being. How we measure triple value 

Conversation 3 Access and Integration 
Access to service Connected Community to 
Crisis Services 

Conversation 2 – Sustainability 

Creating the opportunity for shifting the investment 
from crisis to prevention  

Strategy  

P
age 61



Bristol Health and Wellbeing Board – DRAFT Forward Plan as of September 2019

October 24th 2:30-4:30pm – Development Session – voluntary sector ‘takeover’

 Exploring the work of a community anchor organisation
 Summary of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, focussing on inequalities, to inform:
 Planning the co-production of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy with the voluntary sector, 

service-users and carers

November 27th 2:30-5pm – Formal Board

 Annual Health Protection Report
 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Population Health Management
 Children and Young People’s emotional health and wellbeing Local Transformation Plan
 Bristol Carers Strategy
 TBC items on NHS Healthchecks, Safeguarding, Director of Public Health report

December 19th 2:30-5pm – Development Session

 Housing and health seminar, with Members of the Housing Board, Second Step and others

January 22nd 2020, 2:30-5pm – Formal Board

 Fuel poverty strategy
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Health and Wellbeing Board performance report

February 27th 2020, 2:30-5pm – Development Session

 Mental health and wellbeing workshop

Page 62

Agenda Item 12


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Alive Bristol and the Healthy Weight Declarations
	7 Paris Declaration on Fast Track Cities (HIV prevention)
	8 Living Wage City
	9 Air quality and climate change
	08.2 Appendix to air quality paper

	10 Mental Health Strategy
	12 Forward Plan

